tionship to its forecourt dependencies (figures
110-111). The axis Bland established for Duke
of Gloucester Street, for topographical reasons
already noted, ran several degrees northeast

of the College’s axis. The designer of the Braf-
ferton thus needed to determine whether to
align the building with the College or with the
street; he chose the latter. When Cary was faced
with siting the President’s house, the problem
arose again and he also appears to have faced
the added problem of Richmond (then New
Kent) Road encroaching or creating a College
Yard somewhat narrower on the north than on
the south. As a consequence, the President’s
house was both shifted closer to the College and
aligned with it. Whiffen was right to think that
the solution created a relationship between

the three buildings more dynamic than would be
the case if the two dependencies ignored either
College or town. If they had been aligned with
the College, its misalignment with the street
would probably be noticed. Conversely, if they
had been aligned with the street, their misalign-
ment with the College would have been quite
obvious. There remains, however, the question as
to whether both were envisioned at the same
time. But whether by coincidence or design, the
College, as complete by 1732 and as shown in
the Bodleian Plate, represents a new departure
in collegiate design. Owing a debt to domestic
models in the Netherlands and England, the
three major buildings that comprised the cam-

pus of the College by 1732 marked the begin-
ning of a uniquely American campus tradition.5
The classical, Baroque style that the College
first introduced, reiterated in the 17051715
rebuilding and completed with the building of
the Brafferton and the President’s house, was
soon built upon by Harvard College and, subse-
quently, by virtually every other college founded
and constructed in the colonies before the
American Revolution. Harvard’s Stoughton Hall
built in 1697-1699, as shown in the center of
the Burgis print of 1723, contrasts greatly with
the second Harvard Hall, to its left, a building
built in 1672—1682 in the late Tudor manner

>
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Fig. 111. Arthur Shurcliff,
Aerial Perspective of College
Yard, The College of William
and Mary, drawing, 1930,
Colonial Williamsburg
Foundation.
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Fig. 112. William Burgis,
View of Harvard Hall, Second
Building (left), Stoughton
Hall, 1699 (center), Massa-
chusetts Hall, 1718—-1720
(right), engraving, 1726,
Massachusetts Historical
Society.
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(figure 112). News of the new Virginia college
must have reached Cambridge by 1698 and may
have been a factor in Harvard’s turn away from
Tudor. Stoughton Hall was the model for Massa-
chusetts Hall, built at a right angle and to the'
right of it in 1718-1720. Because Harvard Hall
II was torn down in 1765 after a fire, and be-
cause Stoughton Hall, damaged during the
Revolution, was demolished in 1781, Massachu-
setts Hall stands today as Harvard’s oldest build-
ing, and as the second oldest college building in
the country. Three additional large-scale build-
ings were completed before the Revolution, all of
which survive—Holden Chapel (1742-1744),
Hollis Hall (1762—1763), and Harvard Hall I1I
(1764—1766). Hollis Hall, designed by Thomas
Dawes, and Harvard Hall III, designed by Massa-
chusetts governor, Francis Bernard, both fol-
lowed the lead of William and Mary in that they
each have a hipped roof and a pedimented
pavilion in the center of the main facade.>
Harvard and William and Mary were joined
by as many as fourteen additional institutions
before 1776. The first of these was Yale College,
founded in 1701 at Old Saybrook. It relocated to
New Haven in 1716 and by 1718 had completed

its first major structure, the building depicted in
a contemporary engraving (figure 113). Given its
three-story height, triple entrances, and gabled
roof, Yale College was probably modeled on
Stoughton Hall, but like William and Mary had a
prominent cupola. This entirely frame structure
was razed between 1775 and 1782. In 1750—
1752 Connecticut Hall was built in brick at Yale
and suggests influence from Harvard’s Massa-
chusetts Hall. It is the oldest and only colonial
building to survive on the Yale campus.®® The
architectural tradition established by the College
of William and Mary, by Stoughton and Massa-
chusetts halls at Harvard, and by Yale’s first New
Haven building, all complete by 1718, very much
guided at least six additional colonial colleges.
Yale was followed by the University of Pennsylva-
nia, first incorporated as the College of Philadel-
phia (figure 114). It was first housed in the
building built in 1740 and shown in the left of
the print. The building to the right, a design of
Robert Smith (who would soon design the Public
Hospital in Williamsburg), was built as a dormi-
tory in 1762. Located in the vicinity of 4th and
Arch streets, both buildings appear to have
survived into the 1840s.57

In 1746, six years after the College of Phila-
delphia had been founded, the College of New
Jersey was established at Princeton. Its first
building, Nassau Hall (shown in the engraving
with its President’s house to the right), was in
this combination possibly influenced by the
College of William and Mary. Assigned Robert
Smith and built in 1754—1756, its five-bay pedi-
mented center pavilion reflects the Palladianism
entering the mainstream of American colonial
architecture by that time (figure 115). Nassau
Hall still stands at the heart of the Princeton
campus, although in a Victorian state not unlike
what Perry, Shaw, and Hepburn encountered at
the College of William and Mary in 1928.58
Princeton was followed by King’s College in New
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York City in 1764 (figure 116). Renamed Colum-
bia College after the Revolution, by 1760 a mon-
umental three-story brick structure two blocks
east of City Hall had been constructed. Demol-
ished in the last century, the building is to be
remembered for its four, repetitive three-bay
pedimented pavilions. Brown University had its
origins as Rhode Island College, founded at
Warren in 1764. By 1770 it had relocated to
Providence and construction had begun of a
four-story brick range with a center pedimented
pavilion modeled on Nassau Hall by Joseph
Brown, for whose family the College was re-
named in 1804. The ¢.1790 engraving (figure
117) shows a house to the left of the college
building. The College of William and Mary’s
restoration by Perry, Shaw, and Hepburn proba-
bly prompted the restoration (by the same archi-
tects) of Brown’s first building after World

War II.

In 1766, Rutgers University was founded at
New Brunswick as Queen’s College, but absence
of funds prohibited the construction of a major
building until after the Revolution when the
college was renamed in honor of its major do-
nor. Dartmouth College, among the last of the
colonial colleges, was founded in 1769 at Hano-
ver, New Hampshire (figure 118), Funding
problems followed by the Revolutionary War,
followed by still more funding problems, pre-
vented its first major structure from being built
before 1784—1791. The frame building con-
structed in that period burned in 1904, but was
rebuilt in brick following the 1784 design in the
treatment of the facades. It burned a second
time in 1935, which occasioned a second rebuild-
ing of its interior. Unlike the College of William
and Mary, Dartmouth’s building is both a recon-
struction and a restoration. Of seventeen major
college buildings at nine colleges established
before the Revolution, ten survive today in one
form or another, four at Harvard, three at

Fig. 113 Thomas Johnston
(after John Greenwood),
Yale College (c.1716-1717),
New Haven, engraving, 1. N
Phelps Stokes Collection,
Miriam & Ira D. Wallach
Division of Art, Prints &
Photographs, The New
York Public Library, Astor,
Lenox and Tilden
Foundations.

Fig. 114. View of First Build-
ings of the College of Philadel-
phia, later the Unzversity of
Pennsylvania, Academy,

¢. 1740 (left), Dormitory,
¢.1750 (right), from George
B. Wood, Early History of the
University of Pennsylvania
(Philadelphia, 1896), 11,
Swem Library, College of
William and Mary.

Fig. 115. Henry Dawkins,
College of New Jersey, Prince-
ton, Nassau Hall, ¢.1760,
design by Robert Smith, Presi-
dent’s house (right), engrav-
ing, 1764, Princeton Uni-
versity Library.
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Fig. 116. King’s College
(Columbia University), New
York City, 1760, from the
Tiebout engraving, New York
Magazine, May 1790, The
New-York Historical Soci-
ety, New York City.

Fig. 117. College of Rhode
Island (later Brown Unzver-
sity), design of Joseph Brown,
in Providence, engraving,
¢ 1790, Brown University
Archives and News and
Information Services

Fig. 118. Dartmouth Hall

(1782-1786), Dartmouth Col-

lege, Hanover, New Hamp-
shire, photograph (before
the fire of 1904): Dart-
mouth College Library.
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William and Mary, and one each at Yale, Prince-
ton, and Brown. It surely would have come as
some comfort to James Blair if he had known
that from among nine of the country’s colonial
colleges, none began with so good and so grand
a design as his, that most faced similar initial
problems with funding, and that none survives
today with an older and more cohesive colonial
campus than William and Mary.5®

The eighteenth-century style established in
American collegiate design is harmonious and
uniformly compatible. All colleges reflect the
traditions first seen in Inigo Jones’s Arunde}
houses (figure 53), in Stalpaert’s Ancillary Build-
ing (figures 64a-b), in Pratt’s Kingston Lacy
(figure 68), and in the Williamson Building at
Oxford, now assigned Wren (figure 81). How-
ever, only William and Mary warrants an allusion
to a specific building—the Royal Hospital at
Chelsea (figures 89a—c). Harvard continued to
the end of the Colonial period the pattern of
forming open squares or quadrangles as new
buildings were built. Other northern colleges fol-
lowed Harvard’s example and, though Princeton
and Brown appear to have come closest, all are
unlike the domestic model of design characteriz-
ing the College of William and Mary. It re-
mained for Jefferson, after his travels and expe-
rience in Europe, to build, as did Joseph-Jacques
Ramée, a college around a Pantheon. His design
of the University of Virginia, beginning about
1817, was inspired by the College of William and
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Mary and his memories of the Palace Green
(figure 119). The link between William and Mary
and the University is the plan Jefferson had
devised by 1772 for Monticello. The University
of Virginia’s similarity to Ramée’s contemporary
design for Union College at Schenectady also
suggests Jefferson’s debt to French architecture
(figure 120). Both college designs recall that in
Williamsburg insofar as a single dominant pile is
set at the head of mall-like spaces. These, in
turn, are flanked by buildings of lesser scale and
importance that are symmetrical or identical, or
nearly so.

The Frenchman’s Map confirms that by 1782
an additional six small buildings had been built
at the College, two set symmetrically between the
Coliege, President’s house, and the Brafferton,
and four set in a similar manner to either side of
the Chapel and Hall fronting the college garden
to the west (figure 98). This map also shows a
formal arrangement of plantings, if not colon-
nades or arcades, linking forecourt dependen-
cies with the College. If the College Yard in and
of itself does not suggest Jefferson’s mall, “the
Lawn,” Palace Green certainly does. And there
were further domestic models in Virginia that
Jetferson undoubtedly knew. The relatively
elaborate, carefully proportioned and arranged
flanking and forecourt buildings at Shirley
plantation (c.1738) and the Palladian arrange-
ment of Mount Airy (c.1748) are good exam-
ples.® The esteem in which Jefferson was held
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Fig. 119. B. Tanner, Univer-
sity of Virginia, Thomas
Jefferson, architect, begun
1817, engraving, detail of
the Boye map of Virginia,
1827, Manuscripts, Univer-
sity of Virginia Library.

Fig. 120. ]. Klein, View of
Union College in the City

of Schenectady (after the
Original Plan), Joseph-Jacques
Ramée, architect, begun 1813,
engraving, Schaffer Li-
brary, Union College.

Fig. 121 Henry Howe, Ohio
University, Athens, Ohio,
¢.1804, engraving, 1846,
from Henry Howe, Historical
Collections of Ohio (Cincin-
nati, 1846), Department of
Archives and Special Collec-
tions, Ohio University Li-
braries, Athens, Ohio.
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Fig. 122. Thomas Charles
Millington, View of Bruton
Parish Church, Williamsburg
1711-1715, watercolor,
mid-nineteenth century,
Manuscripts and Rare
Books Department, Swem
Library, College of William
and Mary.

Fig. 123a. North Elevation,
The Magazine, Williamsbur g,
Alexander Spotswood (attribu-
tion), architect, 1714--1715,
drawing, 1957, Colonial
Williamsburg Foundation.
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by liberal-minded Americans in the period
1790-1850 explains why so many colleges begun
in this period followed the William and Mary-
University of Virginia model. Many began with
designs similar to them-—the University of North
Carolina at Chapel Hill (1793-1798), Ohio
University at Athens, founded in 1804 (figure
121), and even much later colleges like the Uni-
versity of Wisconsin, founded at Madison in
1848, all of which point back to one or the other
of the two Virginia colleges. The nineteenth-
century print of Ohio University shows that its
original campus {(c.1804) was an “Old Main,”
which came to be so typical of American col-
leges. The main building of Ohio University, like
that at Dartmouth, is flanked by two identical
buildings that form a forecourt to either side
without a mall, in the manner of William and
Mary. The Capitol and University of Wisconsin
are arranged identically to the Capitol and
College in Williamsburg. Madison’s symbolically
most important street, State Street, links the two
buildings. This street is terminated by the Capi-
tol to the east and the University to the west. Like
Ohio University, the University of Wisconsin’s
original main building, Bascom Hall, is flanked
by matching forecourt dependencies on either
side, @ la William and Mary and Williamsburg.5!
The Palace and the College, both embellished
by dependencies by 1732, provided the first
examples of a domestic architecture that would
characterize Virginia and other colonies for the




balance of the Colonial period and even later.
While Rosewell’s three-story height may have
been a response to that of the college and while
it and Westover are contemporary (c.1725—
1730), Westover is the better surviving example
of the new Williamsburg style. It was built in
1726 by William Byrd Il immediately upon his
return to Virginia from London after a decade-
long sojourn. In addition to being educated in
England, Byrd had lived there between 1695 and
1705. Consequently, he knew English models
from which he could draw directly in the design
of Westover. Some of its features recall designs
in James Gibbs’s Book of Architecture (1727), and
its entrance surrounds are based on drawings in
William Salmon’s Palladio Londinensis (1734).
Even the Palladian mode, which supplanted that
represented by the Williamsburg buildings and
Westover before midcentury, had its earliest
American precedent in the center pavilion of the
first College design. This is nowhere better seen
in Virginia than at Mount Airy, now thought to
have been begun about 1747 by John Tayloe. As
has been seen, precedents for such houses,
illustrated by Gibbs in 1727, can be traced back
beyond Roger Pratt to Inigo Jones.52

The building of the College, Capitol, and
Palace was followed in 1711 by a fourth public
building, a new Bruton Parish Church (1711~
1715) (figure 122). Its design and construction
owe much to Alexander Spotswood who arrived
in 1710 as Virginia’s lieutenant governor. Its size
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and style were unprecedented in Virginia and
were not really surpassed in the Colonial period.
The church made provision for the anticipated
growth of the town, was grand enough to suit the
governor of Virginia and the bishop of London’s
commissary, and was also harmonious in size
and scale with earlier public buildings. Spots-
wood is credited with its initial design that fea-
tured a cruciform plan with a typically square
English east end. The measurements of the
original design appear to derive from various
geometrical combinations of equilateral trian-
gles. Spotswood, who was a mathematician, thus
ignored the Golden Section of the classical lan-
guage of architecture and reverted to the “sa-
cred” geometry of the Middle Ages. The equilat-
eral triangle is the superlative symbol of the
Holy Tiinity, and in applying a medieval system
to a building otherwise classical, Spotswood
achieved a thoroughly Baroque building.%® The
design was, however, modified during construc-
tion in 1711-1715. The chancel end was later
extended some twenty-four feet, and the 100-
foot steeple, the tallest in colonial Virginia, was
not added until 1768-1769.5

Spotswood is also credited with the design of
the Magazine in Market Square, built in 1714—
1715, as a result of an act and a gift of arms and
ammunition from Queen Anne (figures 123a-b).
It was the first Williamsburg building to be
restored, in 1889.% Designed in the form of an
octagon, thirty-two feet in diameter, the Maga-

Fig. 123b. Brantz Mayer,
Remains of Lord Dunmore’s
Powder House at Williamsburg,
Va., pencil drawing, 1868,
Joseph and Margaret Mus-
carelle Museum of Art,
College of William and
Mary.
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zine adheres to the proportions of the Golden
Section. The thirty-two foot height of its brick
walls equals their width and also equals the
height and width of the roof, achieving a 1:1 and
1:2 set of proportions. The ten-foot high octago-
nal brick wall built around the Magazine in 1755
has an eighty-foot diameter that creates a
twenty-four-foot wide courtyard within. Thus
sixty-odd years later, the proportions of the
Golden Section, first staked out with the founda-
tions of the College, remained in effect. The
Magazine has been aptly compared to a praeto-
rium (guardhouse) in 2 Roman castrum, for Spots-
wood was among those who carried Nicholson’s
torch of Roman ideals forward toward Jefferson.
It was sited on axis with England Street, the
cardo, running north-south through the square,
the town’s forum. If Reps is correct and Market
Square was originally contained within a W & M
cipher with the Magazine on its center axis, the
octagonal form of the Magazine would have been
further articulated by its location at the juncture
of the two arms of this cipher. The location of
the Courthouse, begun in 1770, off axis and to
the west of the Magazine, further suggested to
him that the diagonal streets expressing the
cipher had disappeared by that date and that the
center of the square had shifted to the west with
the building of Market Square Tavern. If this
theory is correct and the center of the square
had not been shifted, then the Courthouse
would likely have been built on the same axis as
the Magazine. An even more Roman arrange-
ment would have resulted, for thé Magazine and
its Guardhouse (the praetorium) would have
been balanced by the Courthouse (the curia), the
key buildings in the forum of a Roman castrum.56
The first theatre built in the English colonies
(1716-1718) stood complete on the north side of
Palace Green and was the last of Williamsburg’s
early public buildings to be built. Archeology
undertaken in 1947 revealed foundations for

what was probably a frame structure, which
measuring thirty by eighty-six feet was nearly as
large as adjacent Bruton Parish Church. A crea-
tion of William Levingston, the Playhouse did
not enjoy a continuous history throughout the
Colonial pertod. A second playhouse was built of
frame construction to replace it east of the Capi-
tol in 1751. Absence of sufficient documentation
for either building helps to explain why a thea-
tre remains one of only two public buildings not
to have been restored or reconstructed in Wil-
liamsburg.s” By 1718, then, within two decades
of its founding, Williamsburg had taken defini-
tive and unique urban form, largely due to the
efforts of two highly motivated governors who
were interested in architecture, landscape de-
sign, and town planning. Hugh Jones observed
this in 1724 when, after describing Williamsburg
and its buildings, he concluded that they were
“justly reputed the best in all English America,
and are exceeded by few of their kind in
England.”8

Three additional and important public build-
ings were built toward the end of the Colonial
period—the Public Records Office (1747-1748),
the Courthouse, authorized in 1764 and built
in 1770-1772, and the Public Hospital, author-
ized in 1769 and built in 1770-1773, following a
design sent by the Philadelphia architect, Robert
Smith. These structures require mention because
they show how the style and spirit of the initial
plan and buildings, established by 1706, were
consistently sustained and embellished until
1776. The finely proportioned and arranged
Public Records Office and Courthouse required
minimum restoration, although the onset of
the Revolution prevented completion of the
Courthouse. The Public Hospital was recon-
structed in 1985, the most conspicuous of its
architectural features being its center pedi-
mented pavilion crowned by a bold cupola, the
sixth and last such cupola or spire to embellish




the town’s colonial skyline. While the College
marked the enlightened béginnings of the town
as a seat of learning for future leaders, the
Hospital, coming at the end of the Colonial
period, and heralding a changed attitude toward
the treatment of the mentally ill, epitomized its
equally enlightened close.®

n

According to Thomas Jefferson, writing in
1787 in NoTES ON THE STATE OF VIRGINIA:
The only publick buildings [in Virginia] worth
mentioning are the Capitol, the Palace, the College,
and the Hospital for Lunatics. . . . The Palace is
not handsome . . . the College and Hospital are
rude, mis-shapen piles, which, but that they have
roofs, would be taken for brick kilns. . . . There are
no other publick buildings but churches and court-
houses in which no attempts are made at elegance.
Indeed it would not be easy to execute such an
attempt as a workman could scarcely be found here
capable of drawing an order. The genius of archi-
tecture seems to have shed its maledictions over
this land.”®
Avant-garde in matters of art as well as in
politics, Jefferson’s Romantic criticisms of the
architecture of Williamsburg and of Virginia in
the mid-1780s are understandable. He had just
returned from what can readily be shown as
an eye-opening sojourn in Europe. Had Jeffer-
son commented on his Williamsburg experiences
later in life when, for example, his jardin anglais
was complete at Monticello and from which he
supervised the ongoing construction of his latest
creation, the University, he might have shown the
hindsight of age. He might have admitted that it
was in Williamsburg that he had first seen archi-
tecture, landscape design, and town planning,
just as it had been there that he first came to
appreciate governmental ideals advanced by
John Locke and others. He might have also

admitted that the nature of Monticello, of the
Roman temple he used as the model of Virgi-
nia’s Capitol at Richmond, his support for L’En-
fant as the designer of the new Federal city, and
even the “academical village” he designed at
Charlottesville all had their roots in his Williams-
burg experiences as student, as legislator, and as
governor. After all, in 1788 he had written of
the College of William and Mary, “I know of no
place in the world, while the present professors
remain, where I would so soon place a son.””!

Glenn Patton’s idea that Williamsburg and
the College were the first clear urban and archi-
tectural expression in the English colonies of
budding Enlightenment ideals might also have
made sense to Jefferson as he looked back over
the years. It is fitting to conclude with a demon-
stration of how these ideals are in fact manifest
and how they probably influenced young Jeffer-
son. For Patton, the College and the Capitol
represent America and Virginia symbolically, in
education and in government, respectively.”? If
50, these social and political entities, as expressed
by buildings housing them, are the definite
terminations of the town’s major visual axis, as
the plan and model affirm (figures 99 and 124).
The equal and unequivocal emphasis and bal-
ance between College and Capitol is unprece-
dented in town planning. Market Square, the
town’s principal urban space, is located midway
between them. It is here that people gather,
whether for marketing or fairs, as in an agora, or
for public oratory, as in a forum. These func-
tions, selling and speaking, are provided urban
expression by the square itself, and architectural
expression by the Courthouse. The latter is a
further symbol of local rather than state or
Federal government. Similarly, the basic public
right to safety and protection of property and
civil rights, so central to Locke’s political theory,
is given architectural expression with the
Magazine.
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Fig. 124. Scale Model of
Colonial Williamsburg, Colo-
nial Williamsburg

Foundation.
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Clearly placed away from the principal axis,
but in positions that make sense, even as sym-
bols, are the Gaol and Hospital. Set inconspicu-
ously against a ravine, but appropriately close to
the Capitol that houses the General Court, the
Gaol set apart criminals and debtors, whose
ethics or finances were deemed unacceptable to
society. The Hospital was given no vista either. It
set apart the mentally ill, whose behavior pat-
terns were similarly deemed unbalanced by
society. While it may be coincidental that a line
drawn from Gaol to Hospital crosses over the
center of Market Square and is visually imper-
ceptible, this invisible askewed axis is reflective of
the symbolism implicit in Williamsburg’s plan.
Neither Gaol nor Hospital needed axes, but both
buildings are expressive of human realities that
were recognized accordingly and, thereby, ac-
quire symbolic dimensions as places within the
town.

The governor’s house was placed distant and
aloof from all other buildings. Symbolic of the
expanding British Empire, it was built under
royal command on isolated, but expansive, for-
mal grounds with vistas that lead in both direc-
tions to natural infinities visually and symboli-
cally. The vista from the Palace does not even
project through Market Square, but has its own
martial parade, which, though échieving‘ an
open vista southward through the entire town,
ends nonetheless in a ravine or swamp. Bruton
Parish Church stands where Palace Green and




Duke of Gloucester Street meet, and is thereby
linked both physically and visually to the Palace
as surely as church and crown were in England.
The Church, unlike College, Capitol, Palace, and
Courthouse, was not given a vista, even in the
1711-1715 rebuilding. Nor did the town have a
vista of it, as, for example; Wren had designed
for St. Paul’s in his 1667 plan.

Williamsburg’s plan is quite unlike earlier
European town planning. Ancient, Medieval,
Renaissance, and Baroque town planners placed
supreme emphasis on the two symbols of order
and power—religion and the state as expressed
architecturally in church and palace. No wonder
Nikolaus Pevsner could write that the history of
European architecture is basically one of
churches and palaces with an occasional town
hall thrown in.” In Europe vistas were crucial to
the design of St. Paul’s and Buckingham Palace,
to Notre Dame and to the Louvre, to St. Peter’s
and the Farnese palaces. Not so in Williamsburg.
There, important new architectural and urban
relationships, emphasizing democratic govern-
ment and education, had fed Jefferson’s imagi-
nation enough to cause architecture and land-
scape to become his most personal avocation.
Before his time in Williamsburg, he had seen
only rolling farmland, woodland, mountains,
and muddy trails, occasionally punctuated by
buildings, many of which he described as “being
of scantling and boards, plaistered with lime. It
is impossible to devise things more ugly, uncom-

fortable, and happily more perishable.””*

Much later, Jefferson would write that the
success of the new American republic hung on
“two hooks,” strong education and strong local
government. For him, the larger hook appears to
have been education, for he wrote: “No other
sure foundation can be devised for the preserva-
tion of freedom and happiness.” On another
occasion he suggested that one would find edu-
cation “ameliorating the condition, promoting
the virtue, and advancing the happiness of
man. . . . Enlighten the people . . . and tyranny
and oppressions of body and mind will vanish
like spirits at dawn of day.” Strength in local
government, the second hook, meant, according
to Frederick C. Prescott, a system in which “each
of the governments in the ascending series
should retain such rights as it could protect
unaided, and send on to the next higher in the
series those of wider concern that were found
beyond its competence. That system would
be most safe and free in which government
should be kept nearest the people—that is,
toward the lower unit.””® In Williamsbuxg, build-
ings housing education and local and state gov-
ernment alone dominated the principal axis of
the town.

Given Jefferson’s love of vistas, he must have
often stood in Market Square and pondered
the political meaning of its buildings, especially
its two “hooks,” Capitol and College. No church
or palace blocked his view there. Jetferson would
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Fig. 125. Andrew Ellicott,
after Pierre-Charles L'En-
fant, Plan of Washington,
D.C, 1791-1792, engraving,
Library of Congress, Geog-
raphy and Map Division.
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also ensure that neither priest nor prince would
“block views” in the state and federal legislation
he helped to enact. He saw a Virginia free from
state religion and primogeniture. The curricular
reforms he helped to establish at the College in
1779 severed the link with the Church of Eng-
land. As a result of his opposition to primogeni-
ture, Virginia was assured that no single family
would ever predominate. Jeffersonian ideals
provided citizens with the right to worship as
they saw fit and with equal opportunity under
the law to govern, whether through the franchise
or elected office. Both ideas were “firsts” in the
history of government.”®

Jefferson’s belief in local government helps to
explain why the plan he made for Washington,
D.C.’s design was so modest in comparison to the

monumental scheme Pierre-Charles L’Enfant
created in 1791, further articulated by Andrew
Ellicott (figure 125).77 Although on a scale much
vaster than even Versailles, but more with the
spirit of Williamsburg, the L’Enfant plan is
characterized by grid-iron streets bisected by
dominating grand radiating avenues, periodi-
cally punctuated by rond-points. It draws both
from Nicholson’s Annapolis to the north as from
Williamsburg to the south.” What is new, how-
ever, but for the precedent of Williamsburg, is
the triangular arrangement of major buildings,
an arrangement symbolizing the three branches
of government—Ilegislative, judicial, and execu-
tive. Clearly, the angles of the triangle occupied
by the Capitol, on its hill, and by the Washington
Monument, at the end of the colossal Mall,
dominate that angle occupied by the President’s
house.

At the time the Capitol was built, it was to
house, like Williamsburg’s Capitol, both the
legislative and judicial branches of government.
The third branch, the executive, was symbolized
by the placement of the President’s house. The
symbolic base of this Federal triangle, and occu-
pying its right angle, is the Washington Monu-
ment. While given less emphasis than Capitol
and Monument, the White House was nonethe-
less denied the isolated position Williamsburg’s
Governor’s Palace, with its own mall and infinite
vistas, was afforded. Even the north garden of
the White House was taken from it and made




into a public square, Lafayette Square, possibly
when Jefferson was president.” The garden
facade of the White House confronts the Wash-
ington Monument, a masterful reminder to

the president that the Constitution and the
Congress must be heeded. The White House was
further connected to the Capitol by monumental
Pennsylvania Avenue, Washington’s equivalent of
the Duke of Gloucester Street.

e

The Glorious Revolution of 1688 brought to
the surface social, political, and artistic ideals
that moved from the Netherlands, to England,
then on to Virginia and the creation of the
College and Williamsburg. Williamsburg, in
turn, sustained and developed these ideals that
became manifest in the successful move for
American independence that alone made Wash-
ington, D.C. a reality. That these ideals remain
vital today can, perhaps, be attested to by the
millions of people who make pilgrimages to both
places with each passing year. According to
Allan Greenberg, when people stand under the
dome of the United States Capitol, they alone,
not the altars and thrones of the past, are made
the focus of the entire architectural and urban
scheme. The Senate and House of Representa-
tives flank them on either side.? Even today, the
Supreme Court stands behind them. The Capitol
that represents, indeed is, the people is given the

two most powerful vistas—Pennsylvania Avenue
and The Mall. If the people look down Pennsyl-
vania Avenue they look toward their executive
who, like the governor in Williamsburg, was
given a less prominent vista. The dominant view
given the White House is toward the Washington
Monument. The only place one can see clearly
both the White House and the Capitol is from
the Washington Monument, one of the most
symbolic and romiantically sublime structures
ever conceived. Just as the revolution of 1688
brought Williamsburg into being and the revolu-
tion of 1776 made Washington possible, so did
the planners and designers of Williamsburg
forecast by a century what was planned and de-
signed for Washington. Both cities stand today as
reminders of the nation’s beginnings, achieve-
ments, and aspirations, in both politics and art.

College and Town
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Appendix 1

A Chronology of the Public Buildings of Williamsburg with a Note

on their Designers, 1693—1776

Of the fourteen public buildings and build-
ing groups designed for and constructed in Wil-
liamsburg between 1693 and 1776, twelve stand
today restored or reconstructed. At the time
restoration began in 1928, the College, Bruton
Parish Church, Magazine, Brafferton, President’s
house, Public Records Office, and Courthouse
stood either much altered (College) or little
changed (Public Records Office) from their
original designs. The Capitol, most of the Gaol,
Governor’s Palace, Public Hospital, and Guard-
house required reconstruction. Sufficient sec-
tions of the foundations of these buildings re-
mained in place and guided the reconstructions
as did original specifications and some visual
evidence, most notably the Bodleian Plate (higure
21). Only the Playhouse (First Theatre) and the
Markethouse have not yet been reconstructed.
Fire and other mishaps began almost from
the start (1705 at the College), ending with the
fire that destroyed the Public Hospital in 1885.
Restoration of Williamsburg’s buildings began
only four years later when, in 1889, substantial
repairs were made to the Magazine by Walter R.
Higham for the Association for the Preservation
of Virginia Antiquities. Restoration and recon-
struction began in earnest in 1928 when John D.
Rockefeller, Jr., formed the Williamsburg Resto-
ration, Inc., now the Colonial Williamsburg
Foundation. Both have been ongoing since then,
the last being the current restoration of the
Courthouse. Thus, the buildings of colonial

Williamsburg (1693-1776), the destruction or
alteration of its buildings (1705—1885), and the
ensuing restoration or reconstruction of them
(1889—1988) has been a continuous, even over- ,
lapping, process of nearly three centuries. z
At least eight architects or designers shaped :
Williamsburg and its public buildings beginning
with Christopher Wren in 1693 and ending
with Thomas Jefferson in 1779 when it was de-
termined to stop construction of the addition to
the College. If Wren did not design the College, j
he influenced it as surely as he had Williams- !
burg’s plan. Governors Nicholson and Spotswood
did most to shape the College and the town; !
Nicholson may also have had a hand in the de- i
sign of the Capitol and Palace in the period 1
1699—-1705 just as had Spotswood in 1710—22 in
completing the Palace and its gardens, in rede-
signing the rebuilt College in 1710-15, and in
designing Bruton Parish Church and the Maga-
zine (1711-14). Together, Henry Cary, Sr., and
his son, Henry Cary, Jr., can be given credit
for building the Capitol, Gaol, Palace, College
Chapel, Brafferton, and President’s house
(1701-32). In the 1750s, Richard Taliaferro built
the ballroom wing of the Palace, and designed
the Wythe house. Robert Smith, architect and
designer of many of Philadelphia’s finest build-
ings, as well as Princeton College’s Nassau Hall,
supplied the design for the Public Hospital in
1769. Finally, Jefferson’s scheme for an extensive
quadrangular addition to the College was under



